Faculty Athletic Council Meeting Minutes April 3, 2019 3:30pm – 4:30pm, Nieri 2nd floor classroom

Topic	Discussion	Action
Attendees	B. Baldwin, J. Wolf, M. Godfrey, K. Cutler, G. Fadel, A. Bartley, D. Radakovich, S. Duzan, B. Burk, S. Ellison-Johnson, L. Moreland, G. smith, J. Cullimore, G. Neff, B. Brock, J. Hodge, J. Espey, J. Townsend, D. Coley, S. Webster	
Welcome &	Bill Baldwin, chair, opened meeting with a welcome and call to order	
Call to Order		
Approval of March Minutes	Motion made to accept Minutes as read; seconded; all were in favor; none opposed; no abstentions; Motion carried.	Minutes approved.
Acknowledgements	Sheri Webster will act as recorder for April meeting and Kyle Cutler for the May meeting.	Sheri Webster, Recorder
New Business	Policies and Procedures Bill Baldwin and the Executive leadership of the FAC submitted the following proposals with regards to the duties associated with "Secretary." 1. Committee adds "Secretary" as an administrative position to our bylaws. 2. The Vice-Chair whose current duties include organization of meeting materials, would add Secretary as one of his/her duties. 3. Each elected or appointed voting member of the committee would have one month as secretary except for the Chair. Discussion: Bill discussed updating Bylaws to reflect committee's decision. B. Burk (Libraries) recommends that 1 person be responsible for management of records and minutes for archival reasons.	Motion passed Executive Council to update By-laws by early Fall 2019

Reports and Updates

Nieri Academic Center Update- Steve Duzan

S. Duzan reported on end of semester activities- Student Athlete Appreciation Day, 3 students being sent to the ACC post- graduation luncheon, Athlete Transition to Workforce program. There are 10 UPIC internships for summer 2019.

FAR Report- Janie Hodge

ACC student rep for Clemson is Duron Coley. SAAC rep is Nolan Lennon. AAOC has addressed major/minor clustering. A 25% enrollment cap on student athletes taking Sports Communication has been instituted to allow for a more balanced athlete/non-athlete student cohort. This cap can be lifted in the summer so that classes can be filled with 32 students. Policy and Procedure manuals are being updated to reflect this change. CU Academic Fraud policies are being reviewed in light of recent news reports concerning other colleges and universities.

SAAC Report- Nolan Lennon

Shared success of the "Project Life" bone marrow registry project with 72 athletes registering. Student athletes assisted with rebuilding a community in Wilmington, NC damaged during Hurricane Florence. Year-end wrap up included all SAs viewing video on mental health, choosing 1 male, 1 female athlete for the solid Orange Award, and Be-A-Tiger Field Day which is set for April 6th prior to the Spring Game.

Subcommittee Reports

Academic Policies and Integrity-Sheri Webster

Discussion with Leslie M. determined that coaches have no firm policies on practice attendance or allowable absences from practice because of academic responsibilities.

Student Athlete Welfare and Experience- Mike Godfrey

Currently reviewing time demands on student athletes, parking issues resolved. Volleyball coach will speak to FAC at May meeting.

	Administration and Communication- Jack Wolf	
	Year end report on Athletic Debt Load. See attached report.	
Athletic Department	Updates- Dan Radakovich	
	Spring Game is April 6 th - there will be no parking along the Avenue of	
	Champions. Metal detectors will be in place in hopes of decreasing	
	bottleneck at the Gates. This is a trial run for 2019 football season.	
	A New parking lot on Hwy. 95 near the Snow Lot will be available for 2019	
	football parking.	
	Softball facilities are on time and on budget with projected opening in	
	October 2019.	
	IPTAY offices are currently being renovated with a projected end date	
	October- November 2019.	
	Planning phase is underway for a new soccer facility.	
	Ask Dan : Given the recent use of Athletics to gain admission for some	
	student athletes (and non-athletes) that are academically less qualified	
	(USC, Yale, etc), does Clemson have an interest in examining its methods	
	for student athlete acceptance and the stringency of these admissions	
	through the Athletic Admissions Review Committee (AARC)?	
	Discussion: Dan pointed out that most of the schools involved in these	
	recent cases were private schools which may not have the scrutiny and	
	oversight of public schools. Janie expressed confidence with the CU	
	process between Admissions, Academic, and Athletics. Mike G. shared that	
	there is a very detailed process with recruiting and tracking of student	
	athletes.	
	Dan reported that an announcement is forthcoming regarding the Thursday,	
	August 29 th football game and University activities.	
Euturo Montingo	May 1 2010 Noon McEaddon Building	
Future Meetings	May 1, 2019 Noon McFadden Building	
Adjournment	Recorded by: Sheri Webster, Vice Chair, Faculty Athletic Council	
4:30 pm	Reviewed by: Bill Baldwin, Chair, Faculty Athletic Council	
p	restroned by bin balanni, orian, racardy randa ocurren	

Executive Summary

Following the publication of a Bloomberg article about the heavy use of debt at many major universities' athletic departments and potential for negative repercussions on the academic sides at these institutions, the Administration and Communications subcommittee of the Athletic Council was charged with analyzing the trend in Athletic debt levels and the potential ramifications for the University as a whole.

The main findings include:

- The risk of cross-subsidization is limited at Clemson as each type of debt (General Obligation Bonds, Revenue Bonds, and Athletic Facilities Bonds) are supported by distinct and separate revenue sources.
 While student tuition payments may be used for General Obligation Bonds, these funds may not be used to make either interest or principle payments for other types of debt.
- Athletic Facilities Bonds increased from \$30M in 2011 to \$138M in 2018. At the same time, the total allocated debt for the University increased from \$171.8M in 2011 to \$632.3M in 2018. However, the proportion of the University's total debt allocated to Athletics only increased from 17.5% in 2011 to 21.8% in 2018.
- The State of South Carolina has a statutory cap of \$200M for Athletic Facilities Bonds for Clemson.
- While debt coverage ratios for Athletic Facilities Bonds have decreased to 2.4 in 2018 (from the peak of 5.2 in 2013), Moody's notes that the ratios are still above its target threshold of 1.5.
- As of the latest ratings reports received by the subcommittee, the debt for the University as a whole was rated Aa as was the debt specific to Athletic Facilities Bonds. Aaa represents the highest quality bonds followed by Aa, A, and Baa as "investment-grade" while Ba, B and lower ratings are all considered to be "junk grade". Therefore, even if the debt ratings were to drop two grades to Baa, the University's debt would maintain its investment grade status. However, the Outlook for the ratings was Stable.
- All capital projects are reviewed by the President's Executive Leadership Team with support from the
 Chief Financial Officer's staff. Often, proposals are funded with a mix of both cash and debt rather than
 solely with debt. Beyond the University, there are several additional regulatory approval steps that are
 required.

The State of South Carolina and Clemson University have put into place regulations, policies, and procedures that require that both the Revenue Bonds and Athletic Facilities Bonds be serviced solely with their own revenues. Without the cross-subsidization, each project to be funded must show that it will be able to generate the revenues needed to service its own debt. With multiple levels of review, projects with higher levels of risk and uncertainty are less likely to be funded with as much debt financing.

Introduction

In January 2017, in his Bloomberg article, "College Football's Top Teams Are Built on Crippling Debt", Mr. Novy-Williams discusses the extremely high levels of debt at some well-known universities, including Texas A&M, Washington, Illinois, Georgia Tech, Alabama, Texas, Oregon, and Michigan, all of which bore athletic debt loads of \$200M or more.¹

¹ The article cites data from the Knight Commission. This data is publicly available at http://spendingdatabase.knightcommission.org.

However, all of these are dwarfed by the \$445M in athletic debt for the University of California at Berkeley. According to the article, the athletic department at Berkeley had a \$22M deficit in the year prior to the article. \$18M in annual debt service (principal and interest) was a big factor. That amount will increase over time until it reaches its highest point, \$37M in annual debt service, in 2039. Meanwhile, the original debt maturity stretches out to 2112, although administrators at Berkeley are hopeful that the debt will be fully repaid by 2053. However, those hopes rely on continued revenues streams from tickets and media rights, sources that may not be reliable in the turbulent world of college athletics.

The link to why Clemson faculty might care comes towards the end of the article, where Mr. Novy-Williams quotes a Berkeley faculty member:

"Not only does athletics have a problem on account of the debt service, but it's also taking up a huge chunk of our available borrowing," said physics professor Bob Jacobsen, a faculty representative for athletics. Meanwhile, he added, professors are losing research opportunities due to funding concerns.

Debt Analysis

Financial analysts working within a company or contemplating an equity investment in a business typically evaluate the firm's leverage by examining solvency ratios, such as the debt-to-equity ratio, that compares the mix of financing sources used by the firm. However, for a university, like most non-profit organizations, the concept of equity is not relevant so this approach is not appropriate.

Credit analysts, who are typically employed by lenders, look at how well a borrower generates revenues, income, or cash flow that can be used to make the required payments. Examples of these coverage ratios would include "cash and investments to debt" or "total debt to cash flow". Different lenders or rating agencies may have their own preferred metric that they feel best measures the risk of the borrower. In this report, we will use coverage ratios that compare the amount of pledged revenue that is available to service debt to the annual payments, including both principal and interest.

Typically, coverage ratios and other measures of financial leverage are just part of what the rating agencies look at when evaluating a borrower. For universities, leverage measures account for 20% of the Moody's ratings. Standard and Poor's bases 35% of an institution's financial profile on leverage but then combines the financial profile with the enterprise profile so that the total weight is similar to Moody's.

Issues at Berkeley

The main question which this study attempts to address is whether a situation similar to UC Berkeley's, where financing arrangements made by the athletic department, could have a negative impact on the academic activities elsewhere at Clemson University. There are several aspects of the situation at Berkeley that played significant roles.

² These metrics may involve adjustments to the figures in the borrower's financial statements. For example, Standard and Poor's uses Total Adjusted Operating Revenue, which is defined as "unrestricted revenue less realized and unrealized gains/losses and financial aid." Often, these definitions are not clear enough to allow an outsider to replicate the work since this would reduce the need for the agency to provide the work in the first place.

First, UC Berkeley is part of the UC system, overseen by its Regents. None of the individual schools within this system issue any debt on their own. All debt is issued by the UC system and, while an individual school may report an allocation of the system's debt in its own financial reports, the liability remains with the UC system as a whole.

Second, the UC system makes use of three types of debt: short-term, unsecured debt (called commercial paper); General Revenue Bonds; and Limited Project Revenue Bonds. The General Revenue Bonds are the predominant vehicle for funding new facilities and capital improvements including academic, athletic, administrative, and research facilities. The Limited Project Revenue Bonds are used for auxiliary enterprises.

Third, to support the General Revenue Bonds, the UC system has pledged certain revenues, including "gross student tuition and fees" and "other revenue including unrestricted investment income". Furthermore, the bond indentures require "UC to set rates, charges and fees each year sufficient for General Revenues to pay for the annual principal and interest on the bonds". Limited Project Revenue Bonds pledge the revenues of the specific project.

The combination of these factors has important ramifications. There is no delineation between debt issued to finance athletic facilities and debt issued for other purposes (other than the Limited Project Revenue Bonds). The funds to pay any and all of the debt of the UC system comes from the same sources. This means that tuition from other schools could be drawn upon to satisfy debt payments on athletic facilities at Berkeley. The risks of this arrangement were particularly relevant as UC Berkeley was dealing with university-wide operating deficits of as much as \$150M.³

Use of Debt at Clemson

Types of debt

There are three main types of debt issue used at Clemson: Revenue Bonds; General Obligation Bonds; Athletic Facility Revenue Bonds. Revenue Bonds are used to finance facilities that generate revenues separate from tuition, such as housing, dining, bookstore, and parking operations. Only the revenues from these ventures may be used to make the payments on these bonds. General Obligation Bonds would be used to finance any other campus facilities, including new academic buildings and/or renovations. Student tuition and matriculation fees, up to 90% of the prior year's total, have been pledged for General Obligation Bonds, but these bonds are also backed by the full faith and credit of the State of South Carolina. Athletic Facilities Revenue Bonds are similar but may only be paid using the net revenues of the Athletic Department. In addition to the limit placed on Athletic debt by the lender's requirement that there be sufficient revenues to service the debt, state law places a cap of \$200M on the total amount of Athletic Facilities Bonds. Finally, investor demand for all of the types of debt used by the University is driven by the perceived risk of the investment. Typically, the debt rating agencies

³ See https://www.marketplace.org/2016/02/25/education/story-behind-uc-berkeleys-150-million-deficit.

⁴ Additional funds from the "University" fee set by the Trustees may also be used to service Revenue Bonds.

⁵ Admission fees and special student fees established by the Trustees may also be used. Currently, Clemson does not impose a student athletic fee.

⁶ See Section 59-119-940 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t59c119.php)

have only issued one rating for the University, regardless of debt type, so an increase in the risk of any type can have an impact on the rest of the University's debt as well.

Multi-level approval process helps safeguard debt levels

All potential debt issues are initially reviewed by the President's Executive Leadership Team (ELT), which includes the Executive Vice President for Finance and Operations. This group examines potential capital projects based on the University's priorities. In addition to the overall investment decision, this group also considers the financing mix, such that other sources of finding, like cash from donations, may be used instead of financing a project solely with debt. After the ELT makes its decision to push forward with a project, additional required approvals include the Board of Trustees, Commission on Higher Education, Joint Bond Review Committee of the state legislature, and the State Fiscal Accountability Authority. Because Clemson University does not issue debt as often as other larger universities or university systems, new proposals are likely to be more carefully scrutinized to ensure that a project will not cause the University to become overextended.

Current debt levels at Clemson

Table I shows the total debt issues by the University allocated to each of the three types of debt, based on information in the published Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports. The unamortized premium from issuing bonds at prices that differ from the face value is not allocated so, while it is part of the University's total debt, we disregard it. Between 2011 and 2018, the University's allocated debt has increased from \$171M to slightly more than \$632M, or approximately 3.7 times the 2011 balance. Clemson has been taking advantage of the historically low interest rate environment with several new issuances of debt in the last several years.

The University has issued General Obligation Bonds to finance the construction of the Freeman Hall addition (2014), the upgrades to the campus energy infrastructure (2017), and a new building to house the College of Business (2018). The General Obligation Bond balance at the end of 2018 is slightly more than double the balance at the end of 2011.

Since 2011, there were only two issuances of Revenue Bonds but both were for substantial projects: Core Campus (2015) and Douthit Hills (2016). The Revenue Bonds balance as of 2018, \$281M, increased to slightly more than 6.5 times the 2011 balance, \$42M.

Athletic Facility Bonds were issued to finance a number of construction and renovation projects including at the football stadium (2015), basketball arena (2015), football operations center (2016), and tennis facility (2018). The total balance increased by \$108M to \$138M in 2018, which represents 69.0% of the statutory debt limit of \$200M

Table II reports that the proportion that Athletics debt makes of the University's total debt has only increased from 17.49% in 2011 to 21.81% in 2018. At the beginning of the time period shown in Table II, General Obligation bonds represented the most common source of debt financing. It reached its peak of 70.33% in 2014, primarily because it was the first debt issue in several years. Between 2014 and 2016, as new debt was issued for Core Campus and Douthit Hills, General Obligation Bonds fell to less than 20% of the University's total debt. Meanwhile, Revenue Bonds, the source of financing for the new housing/dining facilities, overtook General Obligation Bonds as the main source of debt financing used by the University. Revenue Bonds accounted for

55.31% of total debt in 2016, its maximum value. Over the past two years, with the start of the new building for the College of Business, only the second academic building project in the last eight years, the proportion of these two sources are converging again.

Although these tables show that Athletics has not increased substantially as a proportionate user of the University's total debt capacity, it is also important to consider the ability to generate sufficient revenues and/or cash flow to make the required debt payments. Table III shows the coverage ratios, as reported in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports, for the University's three types of debt. The coverage ratios for the General Obligation bonds have remained within a narrow range close to 3.0x. Typically, the Revenue Bonds coverage has been similar, if a bit lower. However, in recent years, the coverage ratios for the Revenue Bonds has dropped close to 1.0x. However, this is expected as the debt includes the investment for the Douthit Hills project but without any corresponding revenues. Since Douthit Hills opened in Fall 2018, we should expect to see the Revenue Bonds coverage ratios rebound in 2019.

The coverage ratios for the Athletic Facilities Revenue Bonds jumped substantially in 2012 and 2013, after the football team won its first ACC Championship in 20 years in December 2011. The ratios remained high until the large debt issuance in 2015. Since then, the Athletics coverage ratio has generally been declining.

However, the rating agencies are rating Clemson University as a borrower rather than providing ratings for individual bond issues. Thus, even though there are separate revenue streams used to service each type of debt, each type of debt can still have an impact on the University-wide ratios used by the agencies and therefore the ratings themselves. The last row of Table III shows the weighted average of these coverage ratios, where the proportion of allocated debt from Table II is used as the weights. The weighted average should be expected to rebound in 2019, once revenues from the Douthit Hills project are included.

The most likely way that Athletic borrowing could have a negative impact on academic activities on campus is probably related to these coverage ratios. Starting in 2019, there is a strong possibility that the Athletic Facilities Bonds would have the lowest coverage ratios of the three types of debt. In other words, Athletics borrowing would be a drag on the University's overall coverage ratio. If the Athletics coverage ratio drops substantially, it could be enough to trigger a ratings cut, which would increase the cost of future borrowing, such as for new academic facilities.

However, holding all else constant, since the Athletic debt represents only about 20% of the University's total, a decrease in the Athletic coverage would have a much smaller impact on the overall coverage ratio for the University. When the rating agencies make adjustments that include other resources of the University, such as any unrestricted assets held by the University's endowment, the effect could be even smaller. Furthermore, since the leverage measures typically only account for about 20% of the total weight used to determine the rating, the potential Athletic coverage decline that would be needed to trigger a ratings cut by itself would have to be quite large. Any project with that much risk and uncertainty would not likely make through all of the approval levels, especially since several of these reviews are intended specifically to prevent this kind of outcome, without some sort of modification, such as a reduction in the amount of debt used to finance the project.

Table I: Schedule of Outstanding Allocated Debt (in thousands of dollars)

Fiscal years ending June 30,	2011	2012	2013	2014 _①	2015	2016	2017 ②	2018 ③
General Obligation Bonds	\$ 99,616	\$ 93,075	\$ 88,420	\$ 116,770	\$110,615 4 \$	104,435 _⑤ \$	150,350	213,380
Revenue Bonds	42,090	37,620	32,350	26,585	110,860 $_{\odot}$	295,600 🗇	289,205	281,050 _®
Athletic Facilities Bonds	30,045	25,600	24,150	22,680	118,875	134,450	130,605	137,900
Subtotal Bonds	\$ 171,751	\$ 156,295	\$ 144,920	\$ 166,035	\$340,350 \$	534,485 \$	570,160	632,330

1

Source: Clemson University Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports

Table II: Proportions of Outstanding Allocated Debt

Fiscal years ending June 30,	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
General Obligation Bonds	58.00%	59.55%	61.01%	70.33%	32.50%	19.54%	26.37%	33.75%
Revenue Bonds	24.51%	24.07%	22.32%	16.01%	32.57%	55.31%	50.72%	44.45%
Athletic Facilities Bonds	17.49%	16.38%	16.66%	13.66%	34.93%	25.16%	22.91%	21.81%
	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%

^{2 \$33}M for Freeman Hall addition

^{3 \$52}M for Energy Infrastructure

^{4 \$120}M for A) Business School building; B) \$55M partially refunding Series 2011B Bonds

^{\$90}M for Core Campus\$191M for Douthit Hills

A) \$30M for Oculus and improvements at Doug Kingsmore Stadium; B) \$9M for suite renovations at Memorial Stadium; C) \$10.5M to refund Series 2005

② Athletic Bonds; D) \$61M for renovations at Littlejohn Coliseum

^{§ \$19}M for Football Operations Center \$11.3M for Tennis facility

Table III: Coverage ratios for Outstanding Allocated Debt

Fiscal years ending June 30,	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
General Obligation Bonds	2.98	2.76	2.91	3.37	2.76	3.25	3.10	3.36
Revenue Bonds	2.59	2.58	3.16	3.17	2.90	1.64	1.46	1.32
Athletic Facility Bonds	1.31	4.03	5.22	4.40	3.40	2.81	2.05	2.40
Weighted average coverage	2.59	2.92	3.35	3.48	3.03	2.25	2.03	2.24

Source: Clemson University Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports